E-FILED

May 12, 2017 2:22 PM

Court of Appeals

Division I

State of Washington

FILED
MAY 18 2017
MAY 18 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPPRENIE COURT

945039

No. 75017-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON CAPITAL MORTGAGE, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

VS.

EVAN BARIAULT,

Petitioner,

and

BRAVERN BUSINESSES, LLC,

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

Evan Bariault asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion terminating review on March 6, 2017. A copy is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-16. The Court denied Bariault's timely motion for reconsideration by an order entered on April 13, 2017. A copy is in the Appendix at A-17.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In making a reasonable inquiry as to the law and facts as required by CR 11 before an action may be filed in court, is an attorney required to contact the prospective defendant and the defendant's key witnesses as part of that inquiry?
- 2. In imposing CR 11 sanctions against an attorney, does a trial court violate that attorney's right to due process of law when it fails to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the attorney's alleged violations of the rule and then makes credibility decisions, not having taken actual evidence or heard from the attorney subject to such onerous sanctions?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Attorney Evan Bariault took on the representation of Ernie Whitaker, a minority business owner¹ who believed he had been deceived and had a substantial default judgment taken against him. Bariault

¹ Whitaker did business as Bravern Businesses LLC. This is distinct from the Bravern Residences, the locale for the business.

accepted Whitaker's case and filed a CR 60 motion to set aside the default judgment. He was later sanctioned under CR 11 for failing to undertake a reasonable investigation prior to filing.

Neither the trial court in its evaluation of the sanctions motion nor the Court of Appeals in its review evaluated Bariault's decision to file the CR 60 motion on the information Bariault possessed at the time the motion to set aside the default judgment was filed. Instead, both courts evaluated evidence developed much later. At the time the motion was filed, Bariault had the following information that led to his belief that Whitaker had not been properly served:

- 1. Whitaker never received a summons or complaint and signed a declaration swearing to that fact. CP 985-86.
- 2. Bariault investigated the motion for default and recognized that service was alleged to have been effectuated through the Secretary of State ("SOS"). CP 1063. Bariault reviewed the law and it was evident that a party must demonstrate reasonable diligence in trying to personally serve a business' registered agent before utilizing service through the State.
- 3. Bariault retrieved records from the SOS and uncovered the declaration of Dean Kalivas discussing his alleged efforts to personally serve Bravern through Whitaker as its registered agent. CP 1063. Washington Capital Mortgage ("Washington Capital") was required to file said declaration with the State prior to seeking service via the State. Nothing in the SOS records evidenced that Whitaker had been served, only that mailing had occurred.

- 4. The Kalivas declaration stated the Whitaker residence was in a public access building and Kalivas attempted service on Whitaker's residence multiple times. CP 291-92. Whitaker informed Bariault this was false, the building was private, and Kalivas could not have accessed Whitaker's unit.
- 5. Bariault contacted the Bravern to confirm Whitaker's contention regarding building access. CP 1064. Bariault spoke with Kathleen Beeby who confirmed the building was a secure access facility and process servers could not access individual units. Bariault later asked Beeby to memorialize this in a declaration. CP 1078-79.
- 6. As Bariault confirmed, the Kalivas declaration was false; thus, Bariault had a reasonable basis for believing that service was improper; Washington Capital had not met the prerequisite of establishing reasonable diligence through personal service prior to seeking service through the State. Indeed, in this case the prerequisite was bypassed through misrepresentations to the State. (Whether the misrepresentations were intentional or not, the prerequisite was not satisfied.)
- 7. Bariault then investigated Kalivas' history. CP 1064. He learned that Kalivas was disbarred in Virginia. He had engaged in the unauthorized practice of law in Washington on multiple occasions and was held in contempt on one occasion as a result. He was suspended from practice before the Internal Revenue Service. He had lied to a Pierce County Sheriff about being an attorney. He had previously forged signatures and engaged in racketeering activity. He had engaged in mail and wire fraud. This further solidified Bariault's belief that the Kalivas declaration regarding service was intentionally false.
- 8. Based on the above information, Bariault reasonably believed, after a reasonable inquiry, that judgment could be vacated under a theory of improper service or fraud/misrepresentation in obtaining the judgment.

After filing the motion to vacate Bariault discovered additional evidence supporting Whitaker's claim that he had never received process. Bariault investigated the actual certified mail service attempt made by the SOS based upon the falsified Kalivas declaration. He found that the evidence strongly suggested that the summons and complaint were erroneously delivered to the wrong unit in Whitaker's apartment building:

- 1. Knowing that the State did not keep certified mail receipts on file, as evidenced by the Woodley declaration, Bariault contacted the USPS and obtained the return receipt. CP 838-89, 976-79. The signature on the return receipt was not Whitaker's nor was the unit number on the receipt Whitaker's unit. CP 967, 979.
- 2. Bariault contacted the Bravern Residences attempting to speak with Beeby. She was not available so he spoke with Rebekka Gardner, Bravern's assistant manager. Gardner informed Bariault that while a concierge will sign for certified mail, the postal worker, not the concierge, places the mail in the resident's box. Gardner told Bariault that Bravern Residences had no ability to establish whether Whitaker received the mail from the State in his mailbox. Given that the return receipt had an incorrect unit number, the only sensible conclusion, based on Whitaker's testimony that he was not served, was that it was placed in the mail box of the unit listed on the return receipt rather than Whitaker's. CP 1083-85.
- 3. No evidence in the record suggests that any Bravern Residences employee would routinely have been asked to, or actually did, place the certified mail summons and complaint in Whitaker's box. Washington Capital's counsel testified he spoke with C. Williams, yet Williams did not refute Gardner's testimony. CP 1002-03.

The trial court and the Court of Appeals also ruled that Bariault did not adequately investigate the existence of an alleged joint venture between Whitaker and DLW, Washington Capital's assignor. While the joint venture was of interest on the underlying question of a potential fraud being perpetrated on Whitaker, it was not relevant to Bariault's pre-filing investigation of the specific issue of service of process. Nevertheless, Bariault had ample evidence upon which to believe Whitaker's claim that such joint venture existed:

- 1. Whitaker confirmed that he had entered into a joint venture agreement. Whitaker swore to the accuracy of the statement in a declaration. CP 40-42.
- 2. Whitaker produced a copy of the joint venture agreement that was consistent with his description of the contract. CP 114-21. Whitaker said he signed the agreement, but never received a fully executed copy. CP 1063. Bariault recognized from his dealings with Whitaker that he was not sophisticated in this type of deal.
- 3. Bariault next examined the default judgment pleadings. CP 1063. There he found admissions that DLW had indeed performed work on the project that was completely consistent with the agreement that Whitaker produced. CP 1-5.
- 4. Bariault also inquired of Whitaker as to whether there was any contract that would explain how DLW might have performed work on property Whitaker's business owned, e.g., a traditional construction contract. Whitaker had none. Bariault then examined Washington Capital's pleadings associated with the alleged failure to pay and found no evidence of any alternative contract to explain the DLW work. CP 1-21.

- 5. Bariault also asked Whitaker if he had ever received any invoices for work performed by DLW on the property his business owned. Whitaker said he had not. Again, Bariault examined the pleadings and found no evidence that Whitaker's business had ever been invoiced for DLW's work on the property. The evidence comported perfectly with the agreement Whitaker produced, under which the business would contribute the property and DLW the improvements reflected in the joint venture. Through the entire course of proceedings at the trial level, Washington Capital never produced an alternative contract or a single invoice that they alleged had been sent to Whitaker's business in relation to the DLW work.
- 6. Bariault also investigated DLW, the purported joint venturer. He discovered that Kalivas, the same person who had signed the false declaration on file with the SOS, was a DLW director. CP 1064. He also discovered that Geri McNeil, DLW's president, was Kalivas' wife.
- 7. Bariault also consulted with the Burien Planning Department and Valley View Sewer District regarding improvements on the property and learned that Kalivas had appeared before the planning department claiming to represent Whitaker's business. CP 1063. The only connection Kalivas, a DLW director, would have possibly had with the business was through the joint venture, as Kalivas held no position within Whitaker's company.
- 8. Further, Bariault made a PRA request to the Burien Planning Department for its file related to the property. After some months, Bariault received the file related to the subject property. The file contained Whitaker's forged signature and contained notes establishing a meeting between the Department, Kalivas and Greenhalgh that had occurred without Whitaker's knowledge. This information confirmed the information previously learned from the department. Bariault attempted to present this information to the trial court but it was rejected. CP 1122-24.

The Court of Appeals was critical of Bariault's alleged failure to argue all nine elements of a fraud claim or present the false Kalivas declaration in the motion to vacate. Op. at 8-9. The record is to the contrary:

- 1. Bariault did not posit an affirmative fraud claim on behalf of Bravern against any plaintiff. CP 37. Bariault's use of the term was in support of his argument that Kalivas had filed an untrue declaration with the trial court in order to improperly obtain service of process through the SOS. In other words, the only evidence is that Bariault used the term in its common vein that Kalivas had perpetrated a fraud (i.e., a misrepresentation) on the State and trial court by filing an untrue declaration, leading to the default judgment against Whitaker. The motion did not require an affirmative showing of the elements of the tort of fraud, it merely required that Bariault show evidence that Kalivas's declaration was, in fact, untrue.
- 2. Prior to filing the motion to vacate Bariault was well aware of the false Kalivas declaration that supported a claim under CR 60(b)(4). CP 287, 1064. Indeed, he discussed it with the Bravern Residences and provided a copy to Beeby who prepared a declaration based on Kalivas's false statements. CP 1078-79.
- 3. Washington Capital admitted that Kalivas's declaration was untrue by withdrawing it and submitting an amended declaration that contained statements diametrically opposite to the original claim of attempts at personal service at Whitaker's actual apartment unit. CP 476-82.
- 4. In reply to the motion to vacate, Bariault further elaborated on his claim under CR 60(b)(4) and why the Kalivas declaration served as a basis for that claim. CP 412-18.

- 5. Bariault's investigation uncovered substantial interrelation between DLW, Washington Capital, and the various principles and actors of the two companies.²
- 6. The evidence of collusion uncovered by Bariault's investigation was so substantial that Bariault met with King County Prosecutor Hugo Torres and Fraud Investigator, Linda Williamson. Both indicated that based on the objective evidence and significant investigation undertaken by Bariault that Whitaker and his business were likely the victim of fraud and forgery on multiple levels. CP 1064. Williamson began conducting her own investigation and only closed it after learning the key witness, Ernie Whitaker, had passed away. Bariault was also contacted by Special Agent Hillary Sallee of the FBI, who informed him that the FBI was investigating Kalivas regarding misdeeds related to the subject property, other properties and bankruptcy filings. CP 1068.

Notwithstanding this evidence of Bariault's investigation and factual knowledge at the time the CR 60 motion to set aside the default judgment was filed, the trial court sanctioned Bariault under CR 11 without conducting an evidentiary hearing.³ That court entered extensive

Bariault's investigation of the involved entities and related individuals documented possible collusion. CP 415-17. Kalivas and Wilson, the director and treasurer of DLW were both shown to have been directors and/or incorporators of Washington Capital Mortgage. Srdan Nikolic, the individual who told Whitaker he needed an operating agreement worked for Greenhalgh, the real estate broker, and Washington Capital Mortgage. The signature on that operating agreement was copied and forged on documents with the Burien Planning Department. The person that notarized that forgery was Greenhalgh's ex-husband, Luciano Greenhalgh Giovanni. Further, Washington accepted a deed in lieu of foreclosure that was signed by Jon Krieg, claiming to be a member of Bravern. Krieg is a longtime friend of Kalivas. Indeed, a subsequent investigation has revealed DLW is now governed by Greenhalgh and Geri McNeil, with Kalivas as its registered agent.

³ The trial court also erroneously entered sanctions against Whitaker. See Stella Sales, Inc. v. Johnson, 97 Wn. App. 11, 18–19, 985 P.2d 391, review denied, 139 Wn.2d 1012 (1999) (When a party dies after being served, the action survives under RCW

findings of fact without ever hearing from the parties whose credibility was at issue. The Court of Appeals, in making its decision, implicitly concluded that many of the "findings" were baseless, focusing only on a handful of them. That court emphasized in its opinion that Bariault was culpable for failing to interview witnesses⁴ identified by Washington Capital, *the opposing party* to the motion to vacate. Op. at 6-7, 11.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

CR 11 exists to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 219, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992). It is not intended to chill an attorney's enthusiasm or creativity in pursuing factual or legal theories. *Id.* at 219-20.⁵ While CR

4.20.050 but must be continued against the deceased party's representatives or successors in interest, and those substituted parties must be personally served.). Bariault informed the trial court of Whitaker's death and informed the court and opposing counsel that he did not represent Whitaker's estate and had been unable to make contact with Whitaker's family at the time the sanctions motion was filed. CP 1062. Here, Whitaker was deceased before Washington Capital even filed its motion, yet the trial court entered sanctions against Whitaker although neither his estate nor a successor in interest were ever substituted.

⁴ Both witnesses, Gonzalez and McNeil, allegedly lived in California and Bariault had no mechanism to contact them pre-filing. Further, McNeil was the wife of Dean Kalivas and Bariault had no reason to trust her testimony. Even if their contentions differed from Bariault's clients, he was not required to believe them over his client or objective evidence.

⁵ Were vigorous advocacy to be chilled by the excessive use of sanctions, wrongs would go uncompensated. Attorneys, because of fear of sanctions, might turn down cases on behalf of individuals seeking to have the courts recognize new rights. They might also refuse to represent persons whose rights have been violated but whose claims are not likely to produce large damage awards. This is because attorneys would have to figure into their costs of doing business the

11 supports sanctions for at least three distinct reasons, Miller v. Badgley, 51 Wn. App. 285, 300, 753 P.2d 530, review denied, 111 Wn.2d 1007 (1988), the only basis for CR 11 sanctions here against Bariault was his alleged failure to conduct a reasonable pre-filing inquiry into the law and facts for the CR 60 motion.

This Court mandates an evaluation of the reasonableness of an attorney's pre-filing investigation under the objective standard of "reasonableness under the circumstances." Bryant, 119 Wn.2d at 220. In making this determination, the courts may consider such factors as:

[T]he time that was available to the signer, the extent of the attorney's reliance upon the client for factual support, whether a signing attorney accepted a case from another member of the bar or forwarding attorney, the complexity of the factual and legal issues, and the need for discovery to develop factual circumstances underlying a claim.⁶

Id. at 220-21.

In Cascade Brigade v. Economic Development Board for Tacoma-Pierce County, 61 Wn. App. 615, 811 P.2d 697 (1991), the Court of Appeals mentioned additional factors to be considered when determining

risk of unjustified awards of sanctions.

Bryant, 119 Wn.2d at 220.

⁶ Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals expressly addressed these factors. Whitaker's death, for example, made Bariault's position below exceedingly difficult.

the reasonableness of an attorney's pre-filing inquiry: "The knowledge that reasonably could have been acquired at the time the pleading was filed, the type of claim and the difficulty of acquiring sufficient information, which party has access to the relevant facts, and the significance of the claim in the pleading as a whole. *Id.* at 620.

(1) <u>Bariault's Pre-Filing Investigation Was Factually and Legally Reasonable</u>

This is not a case where an attorney filed a pleading without any inquiry or serious effort. Bariault made substantial inquiries, as noted supra. Moreover, he did not "blindly rely" on his client; he had substantial evidence to believe misbehavior on a broad scale had caused his client's loss and, most importantly, led to a default judgment being entered against his client. The facts, articulated supra, support the view that Whitaker was never served, that fraud, misrepresentation or, at a minimum, mistake led to the default judgment (because Washington Capital used a false declaration in its attempts to execute alternative service). The facts also at least arguably show that Whitaker's business entered into a joint venture with DLW. In spite of Bariault's extensive pre-filing investigation and supportive information gleaned in that investigation, the trial court and Division I inexplicably found Bariault's efforts were not just insufficient, but were so insufficient that he should

have realized there was no possible avenue to successfully argue that Whitaker was not properly served and that no joint venture existed. *See MacDonald v. Korum Ford*, 80 Wn. App. 877, 884, 912 P.2d 1052 (1996) (must be "patently clear" there is no chance of success). In effect, the lower courts here demanded a level of certainty with regard to a filing *nowhere* contemplated in this Court's jurisprudence.⁷ Review is merited, as Division I's decision is inconsistent with this Court's precedent and that of the Court of Appeals.

On the issue of fraud, in particular, Bariault was not required to establish the nine elements of the tort of fraud under CR 60(b)(4), as the Court of Appeals seemingly concluded. Op. at 8-10. The statement that "Washington Capital was involved in an elaborate fraud" resulting in judgments against Bravern neither employed the legal definition of the tort of fraud nor did it constitute an affirmative claim of fraud on behalf of Bariault's client. The statement employed the layman's definition, meaning "an act of deceiving or misrepresenting." The evidence supported that the Kalivas declaration was used to deceive or

On the question of service of process, Division I's opinion in *Asset Acceptance LLC v. Viet Tuan Nguyen*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 2017 WL 1163695 (2017) only documents how aggressively Washington courts act ordinarily in vacating a default judgment for improper service of process.

⁸ https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/fraud

misrepresent; Washington Capital subsequently admitted it was false. Even if the term "fraud" could be considered confusing, unartful drafting is not grounds for CR 11. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 57 Wn. App. 107, 120, 791 P.2d 537 (1990), *aff'd*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992). Misrepresentation or other misconduct are grounds for vacation of a judgment; the moving party need not prove all the elements of fraud to obtain relief under CR 60(b)(4). Bariault had an objectively reasonable basis to assert a claim under CR 60(b)(4) and a reasonable factual inquiry supported it.

Only after Whitaker unexpectedly passed away, Washington Capital filed its motion for sanctions against Bariault and his client. This left Bariault no opportunity to confer with his client regarding the allegations contained in the sanctions motion and proposed findings. Bariault relied on a legal expert to assess his actions. The trial court and the Court of Appeals wholly *ignore* the expert declaration of Thomas Fitzpatrick, a renowned expert in legal ethics. CP 1177-83. Detailing

⁹ Mitchell v. Wash. State Inst. of Pub. Policy, 153 Wn. App. 803, 825, 225 P.3d 280 (2009), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1010 (2010) ("WSIPP need not have established the nine elements of common law fraud – although findings and conclusions for all nine elements would satisfy the rule, "misrepresentation or other misconduct' would also justify vacation of the judgment under CR 60(b)(4)."); see also, Peoples State Bank v. Hickey, 55 Wn. App. 367, 371, 777 P.2d 1056, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1029 (1989) (vacation under CR 60(b)(4) may be appropriate even if the misrepresentation was innocent or negligent rather than willful).

Bariault's investigation, Fitzpatrick opined that Bariault conducted a reasonable inquiry into the existence of a joint venture and the failed service attempt, and that he reached reasonable conclusions factually and legally supporting the pleadings. *See* Appendix at A-18 through A-24.

While ignoring Fitzpatrick's declaration, both courts accepted at face value the declarations of the very individuals that appeared to be in collusion and had deceived Whitaker, as supported by King County fraud investigators and the FBI. It is confounding how both courts favored the testimony of a disbarred attorney widely accused of fraud (Kalivas), along with his wife and cohorts, against a respected ethics expert (Fitzpatrick).

The Court of Appeals decision in this case cannot be squared with its ruling in a recent case involving the very same judge's imposition of CR 11 sanctions. In *Thomas v. Levasseur*, 189 Wn. App. 1041, 2015 WL 5010728 (2015), Thomas sued her parents over ownership of a Seattle condominium, alleging she contributed all funds for the purchase and maintenance of the property and that her parents should not be on the title. Discovery and a summary judgment hearing revealed that the allegations were false and Judge Julie Spector entered CR 11 sanctions against Thomas and her counsel. On appeal, Thomas' counsel argued sanctions were improper because the presentation of the factual errors preceded discovery and was the product of a reasonable inquiry by her counsel.

Finding that Judge Spector had applied the wrong standard, Division I agreed and reversed the sanction order, emphasizing that courts must apply an objective standard to evaluate the attorney's pre-filing investigation; courts must look to what counsel knew when the pleading was filed. *Id.* at *15-18. Noticeably absent from the *Thomas* opinion is any suggestion that counsel was required to contact the opposing party or its witnesses to determine the validity of her/his client's statements. While an attorney cannot rely solely upon her/his client's factual representations, it is also true that an attorney "is not obliged to disbelieve his client's factual allegations[.]" *Id.* at *16.

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