RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

NO. 945039

6/6/2017 3:50 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON CAPITAL MORTGAGE, INC., a Washington corporation,

Respondent,

VS.

EVAN BARIAULT,

Petitioner,

and

BRAVERN BUSINESSES, LLC,

Defendant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD McKINNEY

By: Richard McKinney, WSBA No. 4895 3614 California Avenue S.W. Seattle, WA 98116 206-933-1605; Fax: 206-937-5276

Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

1. Reasonable Inquiry.

It is axiomatic that an appellate court may only reverse a trial court award of CR 11 sanctions if the trial court abused its discretion. *Physicians Ins. Exch. v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993).

Plaintiff urged to the trial court that EB should have inquired of DLW (the contractor on the construction project at issue) and WCM (the financier of the construction project at issue) as to their auspices in doing construction work on the project and about whether there was a J-V between BB and DLW. **CP 1191** includes case law requiring an inquiry of a party's potential adversary before filing an action against that adversary. See e.g. Allen v. Utley, 129 F.R.D. 1 (D. D.C. 1990); Danik v. Hartmarx, 120 F.R.D. 439 (D. D.C. 1998).

A fortiori EB should have contacted Gonzalez who was the partner of BB with reference to the construction project at issue.

Cascade Brigade (p. 10 of Petition) asks the reviewing court to assess "the knowledge that (EB) reasonably could have been acquired at the time the pleading was filed... and [to assess] the difficulty of acquiring sufficient information."

DLW and WCM were not looking for more litigation at the time that the two lawsuits were filed against BB. Litigation only ensued because Whitaker disdained repeated efforts to contact him to discuss the construction project at issue. See documents starting at **CP 276** and **329**.

DLW and WCM would have been happy to disabuse Whitaker of any notion that he (who was only entitled to a "nominal" payment under the terms of his J-V) was being defrauded. Most importantly Gonzalez would have talked openly and perhaps almost interminably about his knowledge of the status of the construction project.

Rather than taking these steps EB scuttled to his old haunts in the Prosecuting Attorney's office and began making misdirected allegations about Kalivas' fraud against Whitaker who made zero investment in this project, who lied about having a written J-V with DLW (with alleged contract terms that were widely at variance with the profit allocation specified in the actual J-V between Gonzalez and BB) and who refused repeated imprecations that he respond to demands for his cooperation in completing the construction project.

Judge Spector found that EB failed to make adequate factual or legal inquiry on eight occasions. **CP 1156-62**, Finding Nos. 6, 8, 9, 10, 13, 16, 19, 22. This compilation does not even include the failure of EB even to try to reach Gonzalez who had a stable and longstanding residence in California. Surely a finding of inadequate investigation by EB was within the trial court's discretion particularly when the trial court reduced the requested attorney fee award by approximately 90% of what WCM's counsel swore under oath was the actual time spent. See p. 15, *infra*.

As a postscript the opinion of attorney Fitzpatrick (CP 1177-83) that EB fully investigated this case is no more than an invasion of the province of the trial court which was fully equipped and authorized to make a CR 11 ruling without the assistance of the partner of appellate attorney Talmadge. See State v. O'Connell, 83 Wn.2d 797, 523 P.2d 872 (1974) which holds an expert opinion on attorney conduct invades the province of the court. O'Connell was reaffirmed in another factual setting in Erics v. Denver, 118 Wn.2d 451, 824 P.2d 1207 (1992).

2. Evidentiary Hearing

EB's Petition through his new counsel asserts for the first time in Issue 2 that there was a Due Process right to an evidentiary hearing before imposing CR 11 sanctions. However, every Federal Circuit known to have ruled on the issue has held that there is no Due Process right to an

evidentiary hearing before the imposition of Rule 11 sanctions. Haviland v. Specter, 2014 WL 1064411 (3d Cir. 2014); In Re USA Commercial Mtg. Co., 2011 WL 6325882 (9th Cir. 2011); Baker v. Alderman, 158 F.3d 516 (11th Cir. 1998); Union Planters Bank v. L & J Develop., Inc., 115 F.3d 378 (6th Cir. 1997); Merriman v. Security Ins. Co. of Hartford, 100 F.3d 1187 (5th Cir. 1996); Aetna Ins. Co. v. Meeker, 953 F.2d 1238 (11th Cir. 1992) (failure to request evidentiary hearing seems central to this decision); Dodd Ins. Services, Inc. v. Royal Ins. Co. of America, 935 F.2d 1152 (10th Cir. 1991); Chemiakin v. Yefimov, 932 F.2d 124 (2d Cir. 1991); In Re Kunstler, 914 F.2d 505, 521 (4th Cir. 1990) (explicitly rejects due process right to an evidentiary hearing on Rule 11 sanctions); Muthig v. Brant Point Nantucket, Inc., 838 F.2d 600 (1st Cir. 1988); McLaughlin v. Bradlee, 803 F.2d 1197 (D.C. Cir. 1986). These uniform holdings reflect the language of the original Rule 11 Advisory Committee quoted in McLaughlin. The "court must to the extent possible limit the scope of sanction proceedings to the record." These practices help to "assure that the efficiencies achieved through more effective operation of the pleading regimen will not be offset by the cost of satellite litigation over the imposition of sanctions."

One important consideration that should guide the trial court's determination whether to hold an evidentiary hearing is the amount of

sanctions imposed. *In Re USA Commercial Mtg. Co.*, supra; Kuntsler, supra; Merriman, supra. In the present case Judge Spector awarded a total of 12.4% of McKinney's requested fees (2000 granted; 16,172 requested) and 4.4% of co-counsel Huguenin's requested fees (1875 granted; 42,650 requested). See CP 1052-53 and CP 1054, et seq. for fee requests and compare with trial court's findings on fees at CP 1161.

This authority on evidentiary hearings for Rule 11 violations is federal authority, but our appellate courts have applied federal law in interpreting CR 11 because the rules are almost identical and the state rule emanated from the federal rule. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 218-19, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992) and cases cited therein.

In summary there is overwhelming authority that there is no due process right to an evidentiary hearing on Rule 11 sanctions, that the drafters of Rule 11 warned against spawning satellite litigation on sanctions, that the trial court has discretion on the issue of granting a hearing, that such a hearing is particularly unnecessary if the amount of sanctions awarded is small. Yet Petitioner makes the new argument that because *Woodruff v. Spence* and its progeny grant the right to an evidentiary hearing on whether there was service of process, that same right applies when an attorney faces a CR 11 award against him (Petition, p. 18, et seq.).

There are two answers to this brand new contention. First, cases which interpret the right to a hearing on whether there was valid service of process condition that right to having first requested an evidentiary hearing to the trial court before its decision. *In Re Custody of K.R.H.*, 192 Wn. App. 1011 (2016) (unpublished); *Northwick v. Long*, 192 Wn. App. 256, 364 P.3d 1067 (2015) (Part of reason for no necessity for evidentiary hearing was that party challenging validity of service did not request full hearing until he had already lost in submitting the issue based upon a paper record); *Leen v. Demopolis*, 62 Wn. App. 473, 815 P.2d 269 (1991).

In the present case not only did EB not request an evidentiary hearing on the issue of service on Whitaker, but EB actually *opposed* an evidentiary hearing on that issue. **CP 417**. With regard to the issue at hand, it appears to WCM that EB never requested a hearing on CR 11 sanctions.³

Second, all legal rights do not receive the same procedural safeguards. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed.2d 18 (1976) (no right to an evidentiary hearing upon termination of Social Security disability benefits). *Mathews* reviews instances where

³ EB filed a dizzying array of motions: for reconsideration, to file new evidence, for reconsideration of the denial of filing new evidence . . . ad infinitum. Despite losing six times at the trial court, EB never asked for an evidentiary hearing on CR 11 sanctions.

some rights may only be terminated after an evidentiary hearing (e.g. termination of welfare benefits) and other instances where an evidentiary hearing is not required before depriving one of other valuable rights. The only conclusion is that each particularized right is subject to its own fact-specific body of precedent. Notwithstanding a three part test in *Mathews*, it is difficult to make a generalized distinction between those rights which require an adversarial hearing before termination from those rights which do not require such a hearing.

The only certainty is that there has been far less willingness of the courts to insist upon an evidentiary hearing before assessing Rule 11 sanctions than there has been to require such a hearing on the issue of whether service of process has been accomplished. Even when federal on nonconstitutional bases. *See e.g. King v. McCord*, 621 F.2d 205 (5th Cir. 1980). Unless there is a constitutional lynchpin to the claim to an evidentiary hearing before imposing CR 11 sanctions, it should not be considered by this Court because it was not raised at trial.

Even when courts have considered an evidentiary hearing on Rule 11 sanctions, they have often required the party requesting a full-scale hearing to articulate the exact facts which will be contested. *Haviland*, *supra*, requires the requesting party to articulate in advance

what contested factual issues will be resolved at the hearing. In the present case it is difficult to imagine what contested facts would have been resolved at an evidentiary hearing other than the issue of whether Whitaker was served by mail by the SOS. Yet EB waived a hearing on that issue by actually opposing such a hearing. See p. 16 *supra*. Moreover Whitaker was deceased by the time when the court began to consider CR 11 sanctions thereby mooting the efficacy of a hearing on the critical issue of service of process by the SOS among other issues

ATTORNEY FEES IN RESPONDING TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appellate counsel for Respondent WCM is well aware that under RAP 18.1(j) fees are ordinarily not granted for responding to a Petition for Review unless the responding party previously received attorney fees from the Court of Appeals. In this case, however, WCM did not even appear before the Court of Appeals. WCM is defending a \$3,875 award of sanctions which was financially unrealistic to defend despite EB's pique at meeting a challenge to his self-professed exalted level of practice. CP 1075.

Yet the offense to justice and fair play became too much to bear when, after losing on direct review and reconsideration in the Court of Appeals, EB actually utilized some counsel's view of the ultimate silver bullet and hired Phil Talmadge to take this appeal to the Supreme Court.

WCM asks for fees on two bases. RAP 18.1(j) was obviously not intended for a scenario wherein a Respondent answering a Petition for Review forfeited all participation at the Court of Appeals level. This Court has the inherent right to waive its own rules. *Ashley v. Superior Court*, 83 Wn.2d 630, 636-37, 521 P.2d 711 (1974) and case cited therein.

Alternatively this Court can sua sponte award fees under RAP 18.9(a). The Petition for Review seeks a ruling that there is a constitutional right to an evidentiary hearing before CR 11 sanctions may be imposed. Such a ruling would be inconsonant with the overwhelming authority in the country, especially when there was never even a trial court request for an evidentiary hearing. A claim to a Due Process right to an evidentiary hearing before imposing CR 11 sanctions is contrary to established law across the nation. The Due Process claim is even more dubious within the context of the facts of this case (analyzing wrong declaration of service by Kalivas; few, if any, contested facts regarding EB's CR 11 violations except SOS service upon Whitaker who was deceased long before it occurred to Mr. Talmadge to assert a constitutional right to a contested hearing). It is not too much to assert that the Petition for Review is groundless, given the abuse of discretion standard of review. If it is groundless then WCM is entitled to attorney fees under RAP 18.9(a) or because WCM hereby asks for CR 11 sanctions due to the new CR 11 violation associated with the Petition's urging for the first time

of a constitutional right that is not otherwise recognized and is contrary to

the express language of the Advisory Committee formulating the original

Rule 11. It has not been unthinkable to use all available sanctions against

various Chief Executives in our nation's history. Likewise it should not

be unthinkable to award CR 11 sanctions against any offending member of

the State Bar.

CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review should be denied for the reasons set forth

on pp. 12-13 and 13-18 herein. Attorney fees should be granted because

EB intractably continues his appeal armed only with a challenge to the

accuracy of two certificates of service upon Whitaker by the SOS and with

a ginned up Due Process claim previously rejected across the country.

June 6, 2017